N THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE DI STRI CT OF KANSAS
UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,

Plaintiff,
VS. Case No. 04-40139-01- RDR

M CHAEL JOHN COFFEY,

Def endant .

VEMORANDUM AND ORDER

This matter is presently before the court upon the foll ow ng
notions filed by the defendant: (1) motion to suppress; (2)
motion to disclose expert testinony; and (3) notion for notice
of evidence. The court held a hearing on defendant’s pretrial
motions on April 7, 2005. The court is now prepared to rule.

The defendant is charged in a two-count indictnment. Jose
Garcia Bautista a/k/a Jesue Lopez Sanchez is named as a co-
def endant. The defendant is charged with possession with intent
to distribute approximtely 2.9 kilograns of cocaine in
violation of 21 U.S.C. §8 841(a)(1)[Count 1] and conspiracy to
possess with intent to distribute approximtely 2.9 kil ograns of
cocaine in violation of 21 U.S.C. §8 846 [Count 2]. The charges
ari se froman encounter between t he def endant and Kansas Hi ghway
Patrol (KHP) troopers at a rest stop on Interstate 70.

MOTI ON TO DI SCLOSE EXPERT TESTI MONY

The defendant seeks an order requiring the government to



di scl ose whether it intends to rely upon expert testinony at
trial; and if so, toidentify and disclose the content and bases
of any such testinmony as required by Fed. RCrimP. 16(a)(1)(0Q.
The government has indicated that it wuld provide the
di sclosures if any such witness is called.

The court shall grant this nmotion. The court directs the
governnment to provide this information at | east 14 days prior to
trial.

MOTI ON FOR NOTI CE OF EVI DENCE

The defendant seeks an order requiring the government to
indicate whether it intends to introduce any evidence under
Fed. R Evid. 404(b) or 807. The governnent has responded that it
does not at this time plan to introduce evidence under either
Rul e 404(b) or 807. The governnent has al so indicated that, if
this changes, it wll notify the defendant sufficiently in
advance of trial so the evidence can be contested. Wth the
response of the government, the court shall deny this notion as
noot .

MOTI ON TO SUPPRESS

The defendant seeks to suppress all evidence arising from
his encounter with |aw enforcement officers at a rest stop on
Interstate 70 on WMy 15, 2004. He contends that he was

unl awf ul | y det ai ned when a KHP trooper obtained his |icense and



ran a conmputer check on it w thout reasonable suspicion. He
further argues that his subsequent consent to search his vehicle
was the fruit of this unlawful detention. Accordingly, he
asserts that all evidence seized during that encounter shoul d be
suppressed.

At the hearing on this motion, the court heard testinony
fromonly one wi tness, KHP trooper Allan Lytton. Based upon the
evi dence presented, the court now makes the follow ng findings
of fact and conclusions of |aw.

Fi ndi ngs of Fact

1. On May 15, 2004, at approximately 12:20 a.m, KHP
Trooper Allan Lytton drove into the rest area at mle post 187
on Interstate 70 on a routine patrol. He observed two nen near
the restroom who he believed were arguing. He coul d not hear
anything they said, but did observe hand gestures that he
t hought showed a heated argunent in progress. He believed the
two men were about to start fighting. As he drove up in his
mar ked patrol car, he thought both men observed him He noticed
t hat one of the nmen began wal king to the restroomand the ot her
began wal king towards their vehicle, a maroon Jeep Cherokee
Trooper Lytton thought the nmen were trying to avoid him

2. Trooper Lytton has been with the KHP for approxi mately

five years. During his enploynment, he has recei ved consi derabl e



training, including a nunmber of classes on drug interdiction
techni ques. Trooper Lytton had previously participated in over
twenty drug arrests. Prior to his enploynent with the KHP, he
was a school teacher.

3. Trooper Lytton’s patrol car is equipped with a video
canera. He turned the canmera on as he pulled in behind the Jeep
Cherokee. The canera captured nost of the events that occurred.
The canera also had audio capabilities, and nost of the
conversations that occurred were recorded.

4. Trooper Lytton exited his car and approached the Jeep
Cher okee. He noticed that the vehicle had an Arizona license
tag. As he went by the rear wi ndow, he put his flashlight up to
the rear wi ndow and | ooked inside. He went to the passenger
side of the vehicle and made contact with the man who had
recently entered it. |In a conversational tone, he asked the nan
if everything was alright. He suggested it appeared that the
two nmen had been arguing. The man in the Jeep Cherokee, who was
|ater identified as Jesue Lopez Sanchez, indicated that
everything was fine and that he was not arguing with the other
man.  Trooper Lytton asked about their travel plans. Sanchez
replied, “W’'re going to New York.” Trooper Lytton thought
Sanchez appeared extrenely nervous.

5. At this point, the man who had gone towards the restroom



wal ked up to the vehicle. This man, who was subsequently
identified as M chael John Coffey, asked Trooper Lytton, “Where
is Baray County?” Trooper Lytton said there was no such county
i n Kansas. Trooper Lytton asked him where they were going

Coffey said, “Chio.” Trooper Lytton then asked why. Cof f ey
indicated they were traveling there to visit a friend. Trooper
Lytton asked him how | ong they were staying. Coffey replied,
“Not |ong.”

6. Trooper Lytton then asked Coffey, “Do you any ID on you
| can |ook at?” Cof fey responded, “Absolutely.” He then
provi ded Trooper Lytton with an Arizona driver’s license. As
Coffey handed him the license, Trooper Lytton noticed that
Coffey’s hand was visibly shaking. Trooper Lytton thought that
Cof fey di spl ayed unusual nervousness. Trooper Lytton then told
Coffey, “Let nme check this real quick.” Coffey again replied,
“Absol utely.” Trooper Lytton then asked Coffey if Sanchez had
any identification. Coffey retrieved a Mexican driver’s |icense
from Sanchez and provided it to Trooper Lytton. Trooper Lytton
told Coffey that he would check the |icenses and be back in a
fewmnutes. At this tinme, Trooper Lytton was suspicious of the
activities of Coffey and Sanchez. He thought they m ght be
engaged in crimnal activity. Hi s suspicion was based upon the

following: (1) the extrenme nervousness di splayed by Coffey and



Sanchez; (2) the conflicting stories Coffey and Sanchez told
concerning their travel plans; (3) the vehicle had an Arizona
license plate, Coffey had an Arizona driver’s |icense, and
Arizona is a known source state for illegal drugs; and (4) the
smal | anmount of |uggage that the nen had. The |last factor was
not nmentioned in any witten materials prepared by Trooper
Lytton follow ng the incident. He stated during the hearing
t hat he had observed two small duffel bags in the second seat of
t he vehicle. He thought this |uggage was not adequate for a
trip of the scope noted by Coffey and Sanchez. He described the
bags with a hand gesture that showed them to be about 1 foot
wi de and two feet |long. He further acknow edged, however, that
he had observed ot her bel ongings in the rear of the vehicle, but
he coul d not remenber what was back there. He suggested he nmade
t he government’s attorney aware of the small ampunt of | uggage
carried by the two nmen, but he could not explain why this
i nformati on had not been noted in the governnment’s response to
the defendant’s notion to suppress. He admtted this was the
first time that he had publicly stated this was an additiona
basis for his reasonabl e suspicion.

7. Trooper Lytton returned to his patrol car and sought
information on the |icenses fromhis di spatcher. He al so sought

the presence of another trooper. The other trooper arrived in



about five mnutes. While Trooper Lytton waited on information,
the other trooper engaged in conversation with Coffey. Coffey
and t he ot her trooper spoke for several m nutes in what appeared
on the videotape to be a congeni al discussion.

8. Trooper Lytton determ ned there were no problens wth
the driver’s licenses supplied by the two nen. He also |earned
there were no problems with the vehicle. The deternination of
the validity of the |icenses and the tag took approxi mately nine
nm nut es. Trooper Lytton exited his car and returned the
licenses to the nen. He told Coffey, “Have a safe trip.
Appreci ate your cooperation.” He then asked if he could ask him
a fewnore questions. Coffey said, “Sure.” Trooper Lytton told
Coffey that “a lot of illegal drugs cone down this highway.” He
then asked Coffey if had any illegal drugs in his vehicle
Coffey said, “No.” Trooper Lytton then asked if he could search
the vehicle. Coffey agreed to the search.

9. Trooper Lytton began searching. He saw signs of
tanpering in the area of the gas tank underneath the vehicle.
He called for a drug dog. A local sheriff’s deputy with a drug
dog arrived approximately fifteen mnutes |later. The drug dog
apparently alerted. The gas tank was |later renmpved and three
packages contai ning cocai ne were found.

Concl usi ons of Law



1. The Fourth Amendnent guarantees “[t]he right of the
people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and
ef fects, against unreasonable searches and seizures.” u. S.

Const. anmend. |V; VWiren v. United States, 517 U. S. 806, 809

(1996). There are three general types of <citizen-police
encounters: (1) consensual encounters that are not Fourth
Amendnent seizures as they involve a person’s voluntary
cooperation with an officer’s non-coercive questioning; (2)
i nvestigative detentions which are Fourth Anmendnent seizures
justified only if there is reasonabl e suspicion that the person
has commtted or is committing a crine; and (3) arrests which
are Fourth Amendnent seizures characterized by highly intrusive
or lengthy detention and justified only if there is probable
cause to believe that the person has commtted or is commtting

a crine. United States v. Seslar, 996 F.2d 1058, 1060 (10th

Cir. 1993).

2. The initial encounter between Trooper Lytton and the two
men at the rest area was consensual . The defendant does not
di spute that the initial discussion between the nmen was
consensual . Trooper Lytton cane into contact with the men after
they were already stopped. |In these circunmstances, he had the
authority to ask a limted nunber of questions w thout the

encount er becom ng an i nvestigative detention. He did so and he



did so properly without inplicating the Fourth Amendnent.

3. The court nust next consider whet her Trooper Lytton then
“sei zed” within the meani ng of the Fourth Anendnment the men when
he asked for identification and ran conputer checks on the
documents provided as well as the license tag of the vehicle.
In the ordinary traffic stop, the lawis settled that an officer
can request a driver’s license, run a conputer check and issue

a citation. United States v. Fernandez, 18 F.3d 874, 878 (10t"

Cir. 1994). Here, however, the nen had not been stopped for a
traffic wviolation. Rat her , Trooper Lytton had sinply
encountered themat a rest area and confronted themto determ ne
if any problenms were present based upon his view that they
appeared to be arguing. He quickly learned that no problens
exi sted between the two nen. At this point, after a few
guestions to Coffey about his travel plans, he asked them if
t hey would produce sone identification. The two nmen readily
provi ded identification. The Suprene Court has suggested that
“interrogation relating to one’'s identity or a request for
identification by the police does not, by itself, constitute, a

Fourth Amendnent seizure.” INS v. Delgado, 466 U. S. 210, 216

(1984); see also United States v. MSwain, 29 F.3d 558, 562 n.

1 (10" Cir. 1994) (“[When police officers engage in a

‘consensual encounter’ with a particular individual, ‘they nmay



ask questions of that individual [and] ask to exani ne the
individual’s identification,” even though the officers have no
reasonabl e suspicion.”). The question, however, whether the
retention of the driver’s license to perform a conputer check
constitutes a seizure is not entirely clear. |If the officer has
reasonabl e suspicion that the person is involved in crimnal
activity, he may stop the person for a brief time and take

addi tional steps to investigate further. Hiibel v. Sixth

Judicial Dist. Ct. of Nevada Hunboldt Co., 542 U S. 177, 124

S.Ct. 2451, 2458 (2004). It is the situation where the officer
| acks reasonabl e suspicion that the | aw beconmes nurKky. In the
context of the traffic stop, the Tenth Circuit has adopted a
bright line test. The court has determ ned that a person is
det ai ned when a | aw enforcenent officer retains possession of

that person’s driver’s license. See United States v. Mendez,

118 F.3d 1426, 1430 (10'M Cir. 1997). In other circunstances,
the Tenth Circuit has determ ned the retention of a driver’s
license for a brief period of time to conduct a conputer check

does not trigger Fourth Amendnent scrutiny. See United States

v. Hinmes, 25 Fed.Appx. 727, 2001 W 1241136 (10'" Cir. 2001)
(unpublished) (officer’s encounter wth notorist who had
di sabled vehicle was consensual and retention of driver’s

license for short period of time does not change consensual

10



nature of encounter).

4. After a careful review of the underlying facts, the
court is persuaded the Fourth Anmendnent was not viol ated here.
The court initially believes that, even w thout reasonable
suspi cion, Trooper Lytton did not detain Coffey. He possessed
the driver’s license for only a short period of time, |less than
ten m nutes. The totality of the circunstances suggest that
Cof fey was not detained. Trooper Lytton did not threaten or use
coercive tactics with Coffey. He did not display a weapon or
physically detain him Coffey readily acqui esced when Trooper
Lytton asked if he could provide sone identification. Coffey
could have refused the request or he could have requested the
i cense back. He did neither and the remaining circunstances

suggest that the encounter remained consensual. See United

States v. Dunigan, 884 F.2d 1010, 1015 (7t Cir. 1989)

(defendants not detained where police nmade contact wth
def endants as they sat in van which was stopped at a street

corner; officers asked about travel plans and asked to see

i censes and ran status check of |icenses); see also Lightbourne
v. State, 438 So.2d 380, 387-88 (Fla. 1983) (defendant was not
detai ned where police officer confronted defendant who was
sitting in parked car, asked a few sinple questions, requested

defendant’s driver’s license, and ran routine check on his car

11



and driver’s |icense).

5. W nowturn to the validity of Coffey’'s consent to the
search. A defendant who voluntarily consents to a search wai ves
hi s Fourth Amendnent rights, and the police officer may conduct

t he search wi t hout probabl e cause or a warrant. See Schneckloth

v. Bustanonte, 412 U S. 218, 235 (1973). In assessing the

voluntariness of an individual's consent, we exam ne the

totality of the circunstances. See United States v. Mendenhal |,

446 U.S. 544, 557 (1980); Schneckloth, 412 U. S. at 227.

6. Coffey’'s contention that his consent was involuntary is
entirely dependent upon his argunment that he gave the consent
during an illegal detention. He does not make the argunent that
his consent was involuntary if obtained during a consensual
encounter. Neverthel ess, we have reviewed the circunstances of
his consent and concluded that it was freely given. Cof f ey
agreed to the search of his vehicle wi thout hesitation. Trooper
Lytton made a polite request to search the Jeep Cherokee and
Coffey readily agreed. Trooper Lytton did not use a conmandi ng
voi ce or conmunicate in any way that consent was required.
Under these circunstances, the court finds that the consent was
voluntary and thus the search was | egal.

7. If forced to reach the issue, the court would find that

reasonabl e suspi cion existed for the detention of Coffey and his

12



passenger. The court admits this is a close question.
8. An officer need only have reasonable articulable
suspicion that crimnal activity is afoot to justify a brief

investigative detention. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 30 (1968).

The Supreme Court has repeatedly held that it is the totality of
the ~circunstances, not the supporting factors taken in
i solation, that nmust be considered i n deci di ng whet her the facts

support reasonabl e suspicion. United States v. Arvizu, 534 U. S

266, 273 (2002); United States v. Cortez, 449 U. S. 411, 417-19

(1981). “The governnment bears the burden of proving the

reasonabl eness of the officer's suspicion.” United States v.

Sal zano, 158 F.3d 1107, 1111 (10" Cir. 1998).

9. In evaluating the factors alleged in support of
reasonabl e suspicion, the court “judge[s] the officer’s conduct
in light of commobn sense and ordinary hunman experience.”
Mendez, 118 F.3d at 1431. “This approach is intended to avoid
unreal i stic second-guessing of police officers’ decisions andto
accord appropriate deference to the ability of a trained |aw
enforcenent officer to distinguish between innocent and

suspi ci ous actions.” United States v. Gutierrez-Daniez, 131

F.3d at 939, 941 (10'M Cir. 1997), cert. denied, 523 U S. 1035

(1998) (quoting United States v. Alvarez, 68 F.3d 1242, 1244

(10t" Cir. 1995), cert. denied, 517 U.S. 1143 (1996)). As

13



expl ained in Mendez, the court mnust approach this issue as

fol |l ows:
“Qur task. . .is not to pigeonhol e each purported fact
as either consistent with innocent travel or
mani festly suspicious,” United States v. Lopez-

Martinez, 25 F.3d 1481, 1484 (10th Cir. 1994), but
rather to determ ne whether the totality of the
circunstances justify the detention. [United States
v.] MRae, 81 F.3d [1528] at 1534 [(10th Cir.1996)].
We make our determ nation with deference to a trained
| aw enforcenment officer’s ability to distinguish
bet ween i nnocent and suspicious circunstances, id.,
remenbering that reasonable suspicion represents a
“mnimum | evel of objective justification” which is
“considerably |ess than proof of wongdoing by a
preponderance of the evidence.” United States V.
Sokolow, 490 U. S. 1, 7, 109 S.Ct. 1581, 104 L.Ed.2d 1
(1989) (citation omtted).

118 F. 3d at 1431.

10. Trooper Lytton indicated at the hearing the follow ng
factors provided reasonable suspicion: (1) the extrene
nervousness di spl ayed by Cof fey and Sanchez; (2) the conflicting
stories concerning travel plans; (3) the vehicle and Coffey were
from Ari zona--a known source state for illegal drugs; and (4)
the small anmount of |uggage that the nen had. Each of the
justifications offered by the officer in isolation would be
insufficient to justify reasonable suspicion. The court,
however, nust consider the totality of the circunstances.

11. The court did not find Trooper Lytton's testinony
credible on the addition of the “inadequate |uggage” as a
justification for the continued detention of Coffey and his

14



passenger. Trooper Lytton failed to include this fact as a
basis for his suspicion of the occupants of the Jeep Cherokee in
any of his following witten reports. Mor eover, the evidence
presented to the court fails to support his reliance on this
factor. Trooper Lytton testified that he believed the occupants
did not have sufficient luggage to make a trip of the nature
suggested by them He noted that he saw only two small duffel
bags in the second seat of the Jeep Cherokee. The court is not
persuaded that his characterization of this | uggage was contrary
to the nature of the trip suggested by the occupants. Cof f ey
had told Trooper Lytton that the duration of their visit to Chio
was “not long.” The governnment did not present the duffel bags
to the court, but Trooper Lytton’s description of the bags using
hi s hands during the hearing indicated that they nmay have been

| arge enough to provide clothing for a short trip. I|nadequate

| uggage may provi de a basis for reasonabl e suspicion, see United

States v. Jones, 44 F.3d 860, 872 (10" Cir. 1995) (considering

| ack of luggage--only three small pieces of |uggage—for a two-

week trip to Los Angeles) and United States v. Arango, 912 F. 2d

441, 447 (10th Cir. 1990), cert. denied, 499 U S. 924 (1991)
(considering inadequate ampbunt of |uggage for two-week trip),
but we do not find the government has provided sufficient

evi dence to support this justification here. See United States

15



v. Hinojos, 74 F.3d 1250, 1996 W. 16823 at **4 (10" Cir. 1996)

(unpubl i shed) (defendant’s single suitcase which police officer
described as two feet by three feet did not raise suspicion of
illegal activity because it was too small).

12. The court shall turn to a consideration of the other
factors noted by Trooper Lytton. The Tenth Circuit has

“repeatedly held that nervousness is of limted
significance in determ ning reasonabl e suspicion and
that the governnent’'s repetitive reliance on. .
.nervousness. . .‘must be treated with caution.’”
United States v. Fernandez, 18 F.3d 874, 879 (10th
Cir.1994) (quoting United States v. MIllan-Diaz, 975
F.2d 720, 722 (10th Cir. 1992)). Ner vousness al one
cannot support reasonable suspicion of crimna
activity. See id. at 880. This is because it is
common  for nost people “to exhibit signs of
nervousness when confronted by a |aw enforcenment
officer” whether or not the person is currently
engaged in crimnal activity. [United States v.]
Wod, 106 F.3d [942] at 948 [(10'" Cir. 1997)]. Thus,
absent signs of nervousness beyond the norm the court
wi Il discount the detaining officer’s reliance on the
detai nee’s nervousness as a basis for reasonable
suspicion. See id.

Sal zano, 158 F.3d at 1113.

13. The court credits Trooper Lytton’s testinony that the
nervousness of Coffey and Sanchez were beyond the norm expected
in aroutine traffic stop. Although not sufficient to support
a finding of reasonable suspicion, the two nmen's extrene
nervousness is a circunstance supporting reasonabl e suspicion.

14. On nunerous occasions, the Tenth Circuit has said that
“contradictory or inplausible travel plans can contribute to a

16



reasonabl e suspicion of illegal activity.” See Mendez, 118 F. 3d

at 1431.; MRae, 81 F.3d at 1535; United States v. Kopp, 45 F. 3d

1450, 1453-54 (10'" Cir.), cert. denied, 514 U S. 1076 (1995).

Cof fey and Sanchez provided inconsistent information about the
final destination of their trip. Case |aw nakes clear that one
of the hallmarks of drug trafficking is the inability of the
enterprise’s participants to get their travel plans straight.
The gl aring inconsistency of the travel plans offered by Coffey
and Sanchez is a circunstance supporting reasonabl e suspicion.
15. The fact that a vehicle or individual hails from a
pur ported known drug source area is a circunstance that can be
considered in determ ning reasonable suspicion, albeit a weak

one. United States v. Wllians, 271 F.3d 1262, 1270 (10" Cir.

2001). Trooper Lytton testified that Arizona was well known as
a source of narcotics. Trooper Lytton testified that several of
his arrests for illegal drugs had involved individuals from
Ari zona. Based upon Trooper Lytton’s training and experience in
crimnal drug interdiction, the court finds his testinony
credible that Arizona is known and considered to be a source
area for narcotics. This fact alone is not enough to qualify as
reasonabl e suspicion, but it does serve as a factor for
assessing other facts and as a context for draw ng other

reasonabl e i nferences.

17



16. In sum the court finds from a totality of the
circunstances that Trooper Lytton had reasonable suspicion to
det ai n Cof fey and Sanchez, even if the retention of the driver’s
license to conduct a conputer check by Trooper Sanchez is not
vi ewed as consensual. Any of the factors noted previously is
not by itself proof of any illegal conduct. But, taken
t oget her, they amount to reasonabl e suspicion.

17. Accordingly, the court finds that the search in this
case did not violate the Fourth Amendnent. The defendant’s
notion to suppress nust be deni ed.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that defendant’s nmotion for
di scl osure of evidence (Doc. # 10) be hereby denied as noot.

| T 1S FURTHER ORDERED t hat defendant’s notion for discl osure
of expert testimony (Doc. # 11) be hereby granted. The court
directs the government to provide this information at |east 14
days prior to trial.

| T 1S FURTHER ORDERED t hat defendant’s notion to suppress

(Doc. # 13) be hereby deni ed.

I T 1S SO ORDERED

Dated this 18'" day of April, 2005 at Topeka, Kansas.

s/ Richard D. Rogers
United States District Judge
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